IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2010-CA-00855

KRISTA RHODES

VERSUS

- -

i

RONNIE RAFFEO

APPELLANT

APPELLEE

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF HARRISON COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

APPELLANT'S BRIEF

ROBERT H. TYLER ATTORNEY AT LAW MSB NO TYLER LAW FIRM 160 PORTER AVENUE P.O. BO 1124 BILOXI, MS 39533-1124 TELEPHONE: (228) 436-4682 FACSIMILE: (228) 436-3991

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2010-CA-00855

KRISTA RHODES

VERSUS

RONNIE RAFFEO

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- 1. WHETHER THE JURY'S VERDICT OF \$5,000.00, \$36.99 OVER AND ABOVE KRISTA RHODES' MEDICAL BILLS, IS AGAINST THE OVER WHELMING WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE?
- 2. WHETHER THE CIRCUIT COURT JUDGE'S DECISION DENYING RHODES'S MOTION FOR AN ADDITUR, OR IN THE ALTERNATIVE, A NEW TRIAL ON DAMAGES, WAS AN ABUSE OF DISCRETION?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. NATURE OF THE CASE

This case arises from an automobile accident that occurred when Ronnie Raffeo ("Raffeo") ran into the rear of the vehicle in which Krista Rhodes ("Rhodes") was a passenger. Liability was admitted shortly before (eight days) trial and the only issue submitted to the jury for resolution was the amount of compensation to which Rhodes was entitled as a result of the injuries she sustained.

B. COURSE OF PROCEEDINGS AND DISPOSITION BELOW

As noted above, Raffeo admitted negligence and Rhodes' claim was submitted to the jury damage assessment. The jury returned a verdict of \$5,000.00 for Rhodes, the amount of her medical bills plus \$36.99. She timely filed her Motion for a New Trial, or in the Alternative for an Additur. The trial court entered an Order denying the relief requested (RE-000005). This appeal was then timely filed.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On July 18, 2007, Rhodes was a passenger in a vehicle being driven by her then husband, Eddie Rhodes.¹ At the time of the accident, Rhodes was six (6) months pregnant. She was taken by ambulance to the emergency room at Ocean Springs Hospital in Ocean Springs, Mississippi. As might be expected, her primary complaint and concern was the welfare and well being of her child to be.

¹ At the time of trial, Rhodes was divorced from Eddie Rhodes and had reverted to her maiden name, Goff (R. 18)

The initial stress and anxiety Rhodes experienced is best evidenced by the following testimony:

- Q. Now, how did you feel immediately after the collision?
- A. Hysterical. I mean, I was crying. I was worried about, you know, if I was going to lose her, is she was ok mainly, because I mean, I'd had complications through the pregnancy, and I did not want anything to happen to her, and I wanted everything to be okay. I mean, I was not worried about myself.

R.21

ł

Once her child was born, Ms. Rhodes continued to suffer pain and discomfort in her low back

which did not ease, but only increased with the passage of time. As her grandmother, Dorothy Ann

Goff, testified, Rhodes was having increasing difficulty taking care of her children and was relying

upon family members to assist her.

- Q. From the time after the accident to the time Krista delivered Kaydence, did you notice anything that indicated to you that she was experiencing physical difficulties in her back?
- A. Yes, sir. She called me all the time complaining about her back. And she said, does it have to do with the pregnancy? I don't know what I'm doing. It's hurting. And I told her then, I said, Krista, I said, the only thing you can do is put a heating pad on it or maybe ice because of you being pregnant.
- Q. What can you tell the jury you observed about Krista after the baby was born?
- A. Well, after the baby was born she had a hard time bathing her, lifting her, and taking care of her. So I would go over during the day, because I work at night, and I would go over during the day and help bathe the baby and help take care of her. And then in the

evening, her mama was home, because her mama worked during the day.

R.50

Rhodes' grandmother suggested over the counter pain medications and heat/cold packs but

Rhodes continued to complain:

- Q. And did eventually you change your opinion about what should be done?
- A. When she kept telling me, Maw Maw, I'm having these spasms, they hurt me, and I kept telling her, I said, well, Krista, you know, the only thing I can tell you right now is we're going to have to get to a doctor. And she kept saying, Maw Maw, I don't have any insurance. And I finally said, well, you know, when it gets to the point that she called me that morning and told me that her leg was hurting her so bad she could not stand up on it, and I told her then, I said, Krista, I will pay for it, go to a chiropractor. She said, well, Maw Maw -- I said, look, I'm coming to get you. So I took her to the chiropractor.
- Q. Now, had you had any experience with chiropractors?
- A. Yes, sir. I worked for a chiropractor.
- Q. And so you got your granddaughter, Krista, to go to a chiropractor?
- A. Yes, sir.
- Q. And did she start getting better?
- A. Well, immediately she started getting a little bit of relief. And he was telling her, you know, use the heating pads and all too. But he was constantly seeing her. When you go to a chiropractor and they start working on you, they want to see you like every other day, and that is because they're wanting your body to get used to the therapeutic thing that they're doing to the body.
- Q. And did Krista eventually get better?
- A. Yes, sir, she did.

R.51-52

Dr. Johnson testified, by deposition, without contradiction that the treatment rendered to Ms. Rhodes was causally related to the automobile accident.

- Q. Now, Doctor, based on the history that you received from Ms. Goff and the automobile accident description, your treatment of her, and your education and experience as a chiropractor, do you have an opinion based upon a reasonable medical probability whether or not a rear end accident occurring on July 18th, 2007 was the cause of the condition that you've described for us today?
- A. I definitely believe it had something to do with it.
- Q. I mean, when you said "had something to do with it," do you hold the opinion within a reasonable degree of medical probability that the accident either caused or contributed to the condition?
- A. It caused it, yes.

Johnson deposition, p.17-18.

.

Only through speculation and argument was defense counsel able to suggest that Ms. Rhodes' low back problems and the need for chiropractic treatment "could" have been caused by something (minor impact, prior injuries, complication of pregnancy) other than the automobile accident. However, there was no evidentiary basis for the jury to conclude otherwise. Raffeo called no witnesses and presented no expert testimony to rebut the testimony of Dr. Johnson. The best defense counsel could elicit from Dr Johnson was that a pregnant person could have back pain. See Johnson deposition, p.23-24. As a result, and under prevailing law, the verdict of the jury is against the overwhelming weight of the evidence and Rhodes is entitled either to an additur or a new trial on damages.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The record lacks substantial, credible evidence to support the jury's verdict or the Circuit Court Judge's finding that the Rhodes was not entitled to an additur or a new trial on damages. The record does reflect that the Rhodes incurred \$4963.01 in medical bills. The defendant did not contest the ambulance bill or emergency room bill. Dr. Johnson testified his bill was reasonable and related to the automobile accident. Johnson deposition, p.18. The jury's award of \$5,000.00 compensated Rhodes only \$36.99 for pain, suffering and resulting mental anguish. The amount awarded to Rhodes is so small in relation to her injuries that it must be the result of bias, passion or prejudice on the part of the jury. It is most certainly is against the overwhelming weight of the evidence. It is well settled in Mississippi that if a jury ignores evidence of pain and suffering and mental anguish on the part of the injured plaintiff, by awarding little or nothing for those intangible elements, then an additur is warranted or, at least a new trial on the damage issue. Denial of the same is an abuse of discretion and is subject to reversal.

ARGUMENT

A. STANDARD OF REVIEW

ŕ

It is well-settled that when considering a trial judge's denial of a motion for additur this Court's standard of review is that of an abuse of discretion. *McClatchy Planning Co. v. Harris*, 807 So.2d 1266 (Miss. 2001) "The party seeking the additur bears the burden of proving his injuries, loss of income and other damages." *Maddox v. Muirhead*, 738 So.2d 742, ¶5 (Miss. 1999). Stated otherwise, jury awards will only be set aside if they are "so unreasonable in amount as to strike mankind at first blush as being beyond all measure, unreasonable in amount and outrageous." *Rodgers v. Pascagoula Public School District*, 611 So.2d 942, 945 (Miss. 1992). It is submitted that a jury award of \$36.99 over and above the amount of medical bills is unreasonable and clearly against the overwhelming weight of the evidence.

B. ARGUMENT

1

Particularly instructive is the Supreme Court's decision in Cortez v. Brown, 408 So.2d 464 (Miss. 1981). Brown was a passenger in a vehicle that was rear-ended by Cortez. Some three months prior to the automobile accident, Brown slipped and fell on a wet floor while in the course of her employment with the City of Biloxi. This fall resulted in her suffering pain in her low back which required her to consult with an orthopaedic surgeon. In fact, Brown had just been released from the hospital after undergoing painful diagnostic testing on her low back on the evening that the automobile accident occurred. Cortez ran into the rear of the Brown vehicle Brown, traveling less than ten (10) miles per hour, with resulting damage to the Brown vehicle being \$233.18. Cortez's headlights were not broken nor were the tail lights on the on the Brown vehicle. 408 So.2d at 465-466. Brown eventually had low back surgery; however, the medical bills for the surgery and hospitalization were submitted to the City of Biloxi for payment. Eventually, the City settled the workers' compensation claim and Brown continued with her lawsuit against Cortez. Id. at 467. At the conclusion of the first trial, the jury found for Brown, but awarded zero damages. The trial court overruled a motion for an additur, but granted a motion for a new trial on the issue of damages only. The second trial also resulted in a verdict for the plaintiff but again with zero damages. After proper motion, the trial court granted an additur in the amount of \$16,000.00. Id. at 470. The Supreme Court affirmed the additur in a five-four decision notwithstanding the fact, highlighted by the dissent, that the jury had before it medical testimony about the prior fall and the failure of the orthopaedic surgeon to attribute the back surgery or injuries to the "slight rear end accident". See, 404 So.2d at 475.

7

In *Brown v. Cuccia*, 576 So.2d 1265 (Miss.1991), the Plaintiff was a passenger in a car that was rear ended in a motor vehicle accident as here. Brown suffered contusions and alleged two herniated discs as a result of this accident. 576 So.2d at 1266. The jury awarded Mrs. Brown a verdict of \$3,000.00. *Id.* Her medical expenses totaled \$2,436.00. *Id.* at 1267. The trial court denied a request for an additur. This Court reversed, notwithstanding testimony that the damage to Brown's car was minimal and "scratches...at most,". The Court found that the jury verdict awarding less than \$600 for pain and suffering was "so low as to evince bias," and awarded the Plaintiff an additur in the amount of \$10,000.00. *Id.* at 1267. In *Brown*, the Plaintiff had significantly lower medical bills than Rhodes case but received significantly more for her pain and suffering than Rhodes. If an award of \$564 for pain and suffering is "so low as to evince bias," on medical bills of \$2436.00, \$36.99 for pain and suffering with medical bills totaling \$4963.01 should be equally shocking to the conscience of the Court.

There are numerous other cases holding that jury awards which approximate medical bills incurred but with little or nothing for pain and suffering require additurs or new damage trials. These verdicts are characterized as contrary to the evidence and evincing bias, passion or prejudice on the jury's part. See, e.g., *Scott Prather Trucking v. Clay*, 821 So.2d 819 (Miss.2002)(upholding additur where jury's verdict clearly left out compensation for pain and suffering). *McClatchy Planning Co. v. Harris*, 807 So.2d 1266 (Miss. 2001)(affirming an additur of \$75,000.00 on a \$25,000.00 jury award to a minor; medical expenses stipulated as \$12,832.30). *Maddox v. Muirhead*, 738 So.2d 742, (Miss.1999)(additur of \$10,000 on jury award of \$2900.00, uncontradicted medical expenses of \$2831.25).

This Court, in *Harvey v. Wall*, 649 So.2d 184 (Miss. 1995) stated that additurs are necessary "when we have found a jury's verdict did not sufficiently compensate a plaintiff for pain and

suffering." 649 So.2d at 187. In *Harvey*, as in this case, "the proof is uncontradicted that he did sustain some pain and suffering." *Id.* at 188. Harvey was a involved in a motor vehicle accident which resulted in his being transported by ambulance (as here) to the hospital where they treated his cuts and x-rayed his leg. At trial, testimony from his doctor's deposition was introduced and the doctor estimated that the injury to Harvey's leg resulted in a 10% impairment. Further, the doctor predicted future pain associated with the motor vehicle accident injury. The jury awarded him a verdict of \$5300.00, \$95.80 over his medical bills. This Court found that it was "inadequate compensation." *Id.* at 189.

Additionally, this Court, in Rodgers v. Pascagoula Public School District, 611 So.2d 942 (Miss. 1992), found that an additur was required when the jury awarded no damages for pain and suffering. The *Rodgers* case and this case are very similar. Both cases involve motor vehicle accidents that injured a Plaintiff, resulting in jury verdicts that awarded them, respectively, no damages for pain and suffering and only \$36.99 for pain and suffering. Another similarity of these two cases is that both involve a "dispute as to the extent of injuries." Here, Raffeo disputes that Ms. Rhodes' injuries required the attention of a chiropractor and speculates that the treatment could even be from a prior injury or from pregnancy. But here, as in *Rodgers*, our case involves uncontradicted evidence of pain and suffering and "proof that his damages included not only medical expenses but also some pain and suffering." 611 So.2d at 945. Under Rodgers, "[a] jury verdict awarding damages for medical expenses alone is against the overwhelming weight of the evidence." Id. This Court found that even if the extent of Rodgers' pain and suffering was only headaches, an additur was still required. It is uncontradicted that Ms. Rhodes suffered pain and suffering and mental anguish; thus, an award of \$36.99 for pain and suffering is against the overwhelming weight of the evidence .As such, Ms. Rhodes, just as the plaintiff in *Rodgers*, is entitled to an additur or a new trial on damages.

1

CONCLUSION

Every litigant has the justifiable right to expect reviewing courts, both at the trial and appellate level, to give due deference to jury findings. This expectation is grounded in the constitutional right to trial by jury. However, as this Court recognized in *Dunn v. Butler*, 252 Miss. 40, 172 So.2d 430 (1965):

In order to insure the preservation, integrity and vitality of the right to trial by jury, this court has throughout its history exercised its constitutionally ordained duty to set aside verdicts whenever the jury manifestly failed to respond to reason. This power must be exercised with conscious self-restraint and caution, but it must be exercised in a proper case for trial by a jury that will not respond to reason is a denial of the right itself.

172 So.2d at 431(emphasis added).

It has been said that the question of the adequacy or inadequacy of damages is one of the most troublesome and perplexing questions with which reviewing courts struggle. *See, e.g., Schoppe v. Applied Chemical Div., Mobley Co.,* 418 So.2d 833, 836 (Miss. 1982); *Dickey v. Parham,* 295 So.2d 284, 285 (Miss. 1974); *Burlingame v. Southwest Drugstores of Miss., Inc.,* 203 So.2d 74, 76 (Miss. 1967). It is submitted that, under the facts contained in the record in this case, the issue should not be so troublesome. There simply is no concrete evidence upon which the jury could reject the proof offered by Rhodes that the chiropractic treatment rendered by Dr. Johnson was related to the automobile accident. Once that premise is accepted, it should be easy for the Court to conclude that the failure to award more that \$37.00 for intangible elements of damages was due to the jury's failure to follow the court's instructions.

For whatever reason, jurors sometimes simply do not respond to reason, evidence or the court's instructions and render verdicts that are excessive or insufficient. When juries do so, it is the

duty of the court to set aside such verdicts. The verdict in this case was woefully insufficient and

should be set aside. This the 25 day of October, 2010.