SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

KRISTA RHODES

APPELLANT

VERSUS

CASE NO. No. 2010-TS-00855

RONNIE RAFFEO

APPELLEE

BRIEF OF APPELLEE

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF HARRISON COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

(Oral Argument is Not Requested)

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLEE:

TRACE D. MCRANEY, MS Bar No DUKES, DUKES, KEATING & FANECA, P.A. Post Office Drawer W Gulfport, MS 39502 Telephone: 228-868-1111 Facsimile: 228-863-2886 trace@ddkf.com

SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

KRISTA RHODES

APPELLANT

APPELLEE

VERSUS

RONNIE RAFFEO

CASE NO. No. 2010-TS-00855

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. NATURE OF THE CASE

This case arises from an automobile accident that occurred on July 18, 2007, when the Defendant, Ronnie Raffeo ("Raffeo"), rear-ended the vehicle in which the Plaintiff, Krista Rhodes ("Rhodes") was a passenger. (Rec. at 8-10). The Defendant stipulated that his negligence was the sole proximate cause of the accident. (Rec. at 24). The only issue submitted to the jury for resolution was the amount of compensation to which Rhodes was entitled as a result of the injuries she sustained. (Rec. at 59).

B. COURSE OF PROCEEDINGS AND DISPOSITION BELOW

Trial of this matter went forward on November 12-13, 2009. As stated above, Raffeo admitted that his negligence was the sole proximate cause of the accident in question. Therefore, Rhodes' claim was submitted to the jury to determine the amount of damages to which the Plaintiff was entitled to compensate her as a result of the accident in question. The jury returned a verdict of \$5,000.00 for Rhodes. (Rec. at 64). Judgment was entered in that amount on November 24, 2009. (RE at 00000005) (Rec. at 65). The Plaintiff timely filed her Motion for a New Trial, or in the Alternative for an Additur. (Rec. at 67-68). After a hearing, the trial court entered its order denying the Plaintiff's motion. (Rec. at 76) (RE 000007).

C. STATEMENT OF FACTS

On July 18, 2007, the Plaintiff was a passenger in a Toyota Tacoma pickup truck being driven by her then husband. (T. at 19, 31). While stopped at a red light, the vehicle in which the Plaintiff was a passenger was struck from the rear by a Pontiac Grand Am driven by the Defendant. (T. at 19, 31). Photographs of the truck which the Plaintiff occupied were introduced

into evidence, which showed minor damage to the bumper and a broken taillight; the Plaintiff did not dispute that the photographs accurately depicted the damage done to the truck as a result of the accident. (T. at 32-34) (Ex.'s D-22, P-3, P-4). At that time of the accident, the Plaintiff was six (6) months pregnant. (T. at 19). The Plaintiff testified that immediately following the accident, other than some abdominal cramping, she did not have any pain to her back or anywhere else. (T. at 34-35). The Plaintiff was taken by ambulance to the Ocean Springs Hospital emergency room. (Rec. at 21). She testified that the only reason she went to the emergency room was because she was worried about her baby. (T. at 35). The Ocean Springs Hospital emergency room records introduced into evidence at trial, stated: "She denies any neck pain, chest pain, shortness of breath, or other problems." (T. at 35-36) (EX P-6 at p. 78). The Plaintiff never had any follow-up visit to the emergency room after the accident. (T. at 36). The only medical treatment that the Plaintiff received between the date of the accident and the date her baby was born on November 8, 2007, was from her OB-GYN. (T. at 36). The only reference in the OB-GYN's records to the accident in question was the day following it. (Ex. D-4) (T. at 36). On November 19, 2007, after delivering her baby, the Plaintiff saw her OB-GYN and reported "musculoskeletal pain from epidural site and extending down leg." (T. at 36) (Ex. D-4 at p. 41). The Plaintiff did not seek any additional treatment until she saw a chiropractor until ten (10) months after the accident, reporting to the chiropractor that she had back pain and pain going down her leg. (T. at 38). The Plaintiff admitted on cross-examination that the back pain she had, which she claimed left her unable to walk, resulted only after she delivered her baby with the benefit of an epidural injection. (Rec. at 39). After completing her chiropractic treatment in August of 2008, the Plaintiff received no medical treatment for any condition she

related to the accident. (T. at 39).¹

Further, on direct examination, the Plaintiff denied that she had ever had any back problems before the accident in question. (T. at 29). However, on cross-examination, the Plaintiff was presented with a medical record from Dr. Paul Pavlov, a general practitioner, dated October 9, 2001, which stated: "back hurting, seen at UrgiCare Thursday with pulled muscle, gave meds, went to school yesterday had to be picked up." (T. at 40) (Ex. D-3 at p. 63). On cross-examination, the Plaintiff was also presented with a radiology report contained in her general practitioner's records regarding x-rays done on September 24, 2004; the radiology report listed a history of "neck and back pain." (T. at 40-41). (Ex. D-3 p. 65).

The Plaintiff's treating chiropractor, Dr. Bradley Johnson, testified by deposition. (Rec. at 46-47) (Ex. P-7 for ID).² Although Dr. Johnson testified that the accident in question "had something to do" with the back pain and radiating leg pain he treated. (Ex. P-7 for ID at p. 17-18), on cross-examination, he testified as follows:

- Q. Based upon a reasonable degree of medical and/or chiropractic probability, can a patient like Ms. Rhodes Goff, whatever we're calling her today, who has been pregnant and had an epidural steroid injection, gone through the pregnancy and delivery, can that cause back pain?
- A. Yes.

(T. at 47)(Ex. P-7 marked for ID at p. 23-24).

The bill for the charges for the ambulance that transported the Plaintiff to the emergency room the day of the accident was \$715.00. (T. at 29) (Ex. P-1). The Ocean Springs Hospital bill

¹The Plaintiff also testified that she did not have to give up any hobbies or activities as a result of the accident. (T. at 39).

²The trial transcript does not contain the chiropractor's testimony.

for the emergency room treatment was \$909.01. (T. at 29) (Ex. P-1).³

At the conclusion of the evidence, the jury returned a verdict in the Plaintiff's favor in the amount of \$5,000.00, the amount of the emergency room and ambulance bills, plus \$3,375.99. (Rec. at 64). The Plaintiff argues that this verdict is against the overwhelming weight of the evidence, entitling her to an additur or a new trial.

C. STANDARD OF REVIEW

It is well-settled that when considering a trial judge's denial of a motion for additur this Court's standard of review is that of an abuse of discretion. *McClatchy Planning Co. v. Harris*, 807 So. 2dd 1266 (Miss. 2001). "The party seeking the additur bears the burden of proving his injuries, loss of income and other damages." *Maddox v. Muirhead*, 738 So. 2d 742 ¶ 5 (Miss. 1999). Stated otherwise, jury awards will only be set aside if they are "so unreasonable in amount as to strike mankind at first blush as being beyond all measure, unreasonable in amount and outrageous." *Rodgers v. Pascagoula Public School District*, 611 So. 2d at 945.

³The Plaintiff submitted medical bills totaling \$4,962.01; this total included the chiropractor's charges. (T. at 29) (Ex. P-1).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The trial judge did not abuse his discretion in denying the Plaintiff's motion for an additur. The Defendant challenged the causal relationship of the Plaintiff's chiropractic care to the accident in question. The Defendant also called the Plaintiff's credibility into question. It was up to the jury to decide whether the chiropractic care was related. The reasonable inference is that the jury answered that question in the negative and awarded the Plaintiff her ambulance and emergency room charges of \$1,624.01, plus \$3,375.99 for her general damages. There was ample basis for the jury to return a verdict of \$5,000.00. As such, the jury's verdict was not so unreasonable in amount to strike mankind at first blush as being beyond all measure, unreasonable in amount and outrageous. *See, Rogers v. Pascagoula Pub. Sch. Dist.*, 611 So. 2d 942, 945 (Miss. 1992).

A. ARGUMENT

First and foremost, the Plaintiff's argument assumes that the jury did not accept <u>any</u> of the defense's case presented at trial of this cause, i.e., was the chiropractic treatment, which the Plaintiff sought ten (10) months after the accident, related to the accident giving rise to this cause of action?

The Defendant cross-examined the Plaintiff, presenting her with photographs of the minimal damage to the pick-up truck in which she was a passenger. The Defendant presented proof via the Ocean Springs Hospital (OSH) emergency room records that, other than abdominal cramping due to the Plaintiff's pregnancy, she had no other complaints of pain. Further, the Plaintiff did not present to her chiropractor until ten (10) months after the accident. This was only after she had reported to her treating OB-GYN that she was having back pain at her epidural

site, which radiated down her leg, after the delivery of her baby. These were the same complaints she made to her chiropractor on her first visit. Last, but not least, the Plaintiff's treating chiropractor testified that a woman who took a baby full term and delivered it with the benefit of an epidural injection could suffer from back pain.

The Plaintiff's motion is premised on the fact that the Plaintiff was only awarded damages for pain and suffering in the amount of \$36.99. Rather, the reasonable inference is that the jury did not believe that the chiropractor's care, resulting in charges of \$3,214.00, was related to the accident, and only awarded the Plaintiff her ambulance bill and emergency room bill in the amount of \$ 1,624.01 plus \$ 3,375.99 for the pain and suffering.

In *Rodgers v. Pascagoula Sch. Pub. Sch. Dist.*, 611 So. 2d 942 (Miss. 1992), cited by the Plaintiff, causation was not an issue. In *Rodgers*, the plaintiff was injured when the car in which he was a passenger was sideswiped by a school bus. *Rodgers*, 611 So.2d at 943. The vehicle that the plaintiff occupied suffered \$4,800 in damages. *Id.* In the accident, the plaintiff's body and head were thrown against the front window of the vehicle. *Id.* X-rays and physical examination found that the plaintiff suffered a contusion on the right side of his head. *Id.* The plaintiff also suffered headaches and pain in his neck and back for a week following the accident. *Id.* The plaintiff was diagnosed with post-traumatic headaches and an acute lumbar spine strain. *Id.* at 944. The plaintiff was also diagnosed by a psychiatrist with a 40% vocational impairment. *Id.* In *Rodgers*, the jury only awarded the plaintiff his past medical bills of \$11,765.50. *Id.* The *Rodgers* Court held as follows in affirming an additur of \$11,765.50:

While there is dispute as to the extent of injuries that Rogers (sic) received, there is no dispute in the record that Rodgers did suffer from some pain, even if only headaches, and that Rogers (sic) did experience some type of headache, even if

only a contusion. A jury verdict awarding damages for medical expenses alone is against the overwhelming weight of evidence. Rodgers put on proof that his damages included not only medical expenses but also some pain and suffering.

Id. at 945-46 (emphasis added).

So, the *Rodgers* case is a red herring. At the trial in this matter, causation of the Plaintiff's complaints of back pain and radiating leg pain were challenged. The defense not only challenged causation of the back pain, but also the Plaintiff's credibility. The Plaintiff denied any prior back problems. The defense presented the jury with medical records which unrefutably established that the Plaintiff had at least two (2) incidents where she presented to medical providers with back problems. So, where are we left? Did the jury believe the Defendant's or the Plaintiff's case? It is submitted by the Defendant that his case was accepted by the jury.

Providing guidance is the case of *Dobbins v. Vann*, 981 So. 2d 1041 (Miss. 2008). In *Dobbins*, the plaintiff presented proof that the plaintiff experienced headaches and pain in his ankle, left knee, back, neck and right shoulder pain after the accident in question. *Id.* The Court found although the plaintiff incurred medical expenses of \$38,627.85, he did not seek immediate medical attention after the accident, when the air bag in his vehicle did not deploy, and he did not initially complaint of shoulder pain until eight (8) months after the accident. *Id.* Further, the plaintiff in *Dobbins* had prior injuries from a subsequent accident. *Id.* The Court affirmed the jury's award of \$50,000 and the trial court's denial of an additur in light of the forgoing. *Id.* Although the plaintiff's claimed injuries were much worse than those of the Plaintiff herein, the facts of *Dobbins* are very similar to the facts that were presented to the jury in this matter.

The Plaintiff relies upon *Cortez v. Brown*, 408 So. 2d 464 (Miss. 1981) in support of her argument. However, what the Plaintiff fails to point out is that in *Cortez*, the plaintiff was not

seeking appellate relief from a denial of a motion for an additur. Rather, the issue before the Mississippi Supreme Court was whether the trial court abused its discretion in awarding an additur. *Cortez*, 404 So. 2d at 475. As such, the *Cortez* decision really provides no guidance at all for the Court in this matter. Further, in *Brown v. Cuccia*, 576 So. 2d 1265 (Miss. 1991), relied upon by the Plaintiff, there was no real issue regarding causation, when the court awarded an additur to the plaintiff. *Brown*, 576 So. 2d at 1265. In the case sub judice, the defendants entire defense was based upon the nature and extent of the severity of the accident and causation.

The standard for an additur is that the award by the jury evidenced prejudice, bias, or passion on the part of the jury or is manifestly against the weight of the credible evidence. *See Crews v. Mahaffy*, 986 So. 2d 987 (Miss. 2007). Further, the evidence must be viewed in the light most favorable to the defendant. *Id.*

In the case at bar, the jury was free to accept the Defendant's case, which apparently was, based upon the evidence, the jury did. There is no indication that the jury's verdict was based on prejudice, bias or passion. Looking at all the evidence in the light most favorable to the defendant, it cannot be said that the trial judge abused his discretion in denying the Plaintiff's motion for an additur.

CONCLUSION

The Plaintiff correctly notes that this Court stated in *Dunn v. Butler*, 252 Miss. 40, 172 So. 2d 430 (1965):

In order to insure the preservation, integrity and vitality of the right to trial by jury, this court has throughout its history exercised its constitutionally ordained duty to set aside verdicts whenever the jury manifestly failed to respond to reason. This power must be exercised with conscious self-restraint and caution, but it must be exercised in a proper case for trial by a jury that will not respond to reason is a denial of the right itself.

172 So. 2d at 431.